



Our air 2021: preliminary data release

New Zealand's environmental reporting series

Crown copyright ©

Unless otherwise stated, this copyright work is licensed for re-use under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence. In essence, you are free to copy, distribute, and adapt the work, as long as you attribute the work to the New Zealand Government and abide by the other licence terms. To view a copy of this licence, visit Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence.

Please note that neither the New Zealand Government emblem nor the New Zealand Government logo may be used in any way which infringes any provision of the Flags, Emblems, and Names Protection Act 1981 or would infringe such provision if the relevant use occurred within New Zealand. Attribution to the New Zealand Government should be in written form and not by reproduction of any emblem or the New Zealand Government logo.

If you publish, distribute, or otherwise disseminate this work (or any part of it) to the public without adapting it, the following attribution statement should be used:

Source: Ministry for the Environment, Stats NZ, and data providers, and licensed by the Ministry for the Environment and Stats NZ for re-use under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence.

If you adapt this work in any way, or include it in a collection, and publish, distribute, or otherwise disseminate that adaptation or collection to the public, the following attribution statement should be used:

This work uses material sourced from the Ministry for the Environment, Stats NZ, and data providers, which is licensed by the Ministry for the Environment and Stats NZ for re-use under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence.

Where practicable, please hyperlink the name of the Ministry for the Environment or Stats NZ to the Ministry for the Environment or Stats NZ web page that contains, or links to, the source data.

Disclaimer

While all care and diligence has been used in processing, analysing, and extracting data and information for this publication, the Ministry for the Environment, Stats NZ, and the data providers give no warranty in relation to the report or data used in the report – including its accuracy, reliability, and suitability – and accept no liability whatsoever in relation to any loss, damage, or other costs relating to the use of any part of the report (including any data) or any compilations, derivative works, or modifications of the report (including any data).

Citation

Ministry for the Environment & Stats NZ (2021). New Zealand's Environmental Reporting Series: Our air 2021: preliminary data release. Retrieved from environment.govt.nz.

Published in October 2021 by Ministry for the Environment and Stats NZ

Publication number: ME 1598

ISSN: 2382-0179 ISBN: 978-1-99-003384-1

Contents

Introduction to Our air 2021	4
About Our air 2021	4
Indicator findings	6
Particulate matter	6
PM ₁₀ concentrations	6
PM _{2.5} concentrations	7
Nitrogen dioxide concentrations	8
Sulphur dioxide concentrations	9
Ground-level ozone	10
Carbon monoxide concentrations	11
Air pollutant emissions (sources)	12
Health impacts of air pollution	13
References	14

Introduction to Our air 2021

This section provides background to *Our air 2021*, including the nature of this release and what standards we report against in this report.

About Our air 2021

Our air 2021 is part of the series of environmental reports produced by the Ministry for the Environment and Stats NZ. This report is a preliminary data release under the Environmental Reporting Act 2015. This report updates the indicators we have reported on in previous years (2014 and 2018) but does not introduce new ones.

This information release is preliminary because further work is underway on the human health impacts of air quality. We are evaluating data against the recently released 2021 World Health Organization (WHO) air quality guidelines (described below), which will form the basis of a subsequent release of *Our air* on 10 December 2021.

In addition, updated results from the Health and Air Pollution in New Zealand model, which provide us with important information on health impacts, are due to be released in early 2022.

It should be noted that while social restrictions implemented nationally in 2020 as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic temporarily decreased concentrations of several key pollutants across the country, *Our air 2021* does not specifically analyse the effect of these restrictions. However, other studies have examined the effect of Level 4 lockdown restrictions on air quality in Auckland (Patel et al., 2021) and nationally as restrictions eased through June 2020 (Talbot et al., 2021).

Standards we report against

This report evaluates monitored data against two primary standards or guidelines – one national and one international – to indicate potential impacts on human health.

The National Environmental Standards for Air Quality set limits for particulate matter and gaseous pollutants to protect communities against detrimental health impacts. The standard focuses on short-term exposure – that is, average hourly or 24-hour time periods. The standard allows some pollutants to be above the threshold limit (ie an exceedance) a few times per year.

The World Health Organization (WHO) Air Quality Guidelines also provide indicative limits to protect communities from the long-term or chronic health impacts of air pollution. The WHO guidelines are based on a synthesis of research on the health effects of air pollutants. Many regional councils and unitary authorities, which are responsible for monitoring and managing air quality in New Zealand, choose to report on levels of air pollutants against the WHO guidelines, in addition to the National Environmental Standards for Air Quality.

Revised World Health Organization guidelines and updated modelling of health impacts

During the final production stages of *Our air 2021*, the WHO released updated 2021 global air quality guidelines. This is the first update in 16 years, and comes after a systematic review of more than 500 publications by experts around the world. It builds on the advances in measurement and pollution assessment from a global database as well as epidemiological studies (WHO, 2021). In most cases the 2021 WHO guidelines are more stringent than the 2005 guidelines, reflecting the large body of evidence of detrimental effects of key pollutants on human health, even at low levels.

It was not possible to complete the analytical work against the 2021 guidelines in time for this release. This preliminary release reports on the 2005 WHO guidelines as these are currently referenced across New Zealand, and this enables comparability with *Our air 2018*.

As noted above, updated results from the Health and Air Pollution in New Zealand (HAPINZ) model are also underway, and we expect to receive these early next year (2022). This data will be used to update the indicator on health impacts of air pollution.

Indicator findings

This section provides a summary of key findings for each of the indicators included in this report: PM_{10} concentrations, $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations, nitrogen dioxide concentrations, sulphur dioxide concentrations, ground-level ozone, carbon monoxide concentrations, air pollutant emissions, and the health impacts of air pollution.

Particulate matter

In New Zealand and worldwide, the most significant human health impacts from poor air quality are associated with exposure to particulate matter (PM) (Health Effects Institute, 2018). Particulate matter is a term used for a mixture of solid particles and liquid droplets found in the air (US EPA, 2021). This report refers to two types of particulate matter:

 PM_{10} : larger particles (but still small enough that they can be inhaled), generally 10 micrometres or less in diameter.

 $PM_{2.5}$: finer particles, generally 2.5 micrometres or less in diameter. Because PM_{10} includes particles smaller than 10 micrometres, $PM_{2.5}$ is a subset of PM_{10} .

Note: Evaluation of data against the 2021 WHO guidelines will be released 10 December 2021.

PM₁₀ concentrations

Key findings

In the four-year period between 2017 and 2020:

- 25 of 46 sites (61 percent) had at least two exceedances of the 24-hour PM₁₀ National Environmental Standards for Air Quality over a 12-month period. Most exceedances were at sites classified as residential.
- Arrowtown (at 30 days), Pomona Street (Invercargill) (12 days), and Anzac Square (Timaru) (12 days) had the highest number of average daily exceedances of the 24-hour PM₁₀ National Environmental Standards for Air Quality per year.
- The majority (83 percent) of all exceedances recorded over this four-year period were in winter (June, July, August). A lesser amount (13 percent) were recorded in autumn (March, April, May).
- Three sites exceeded the annual average PM₁₀ 2005 World Health Organization guideline (20 μg/m³) for air quality at least once over the four-year period. These sites were: Anzac Square (Timaru), Pomona Street (Invercargill), and Arrowtown. Anzac Square (Timaru) had the most exceedances over this period, exceeding the guideline in 2017, 2019, and 2020.

For the 36 sites that were analysed for trends during the 10-year period between 2011 and 2020:

• 72 percent were improving (26 of 36) and 8 percent were worsening (3 of 36). No trend could be determined at 19 percent of sites (7 of 36).

Find out more

Stats NZ PM₁₀ concentrations web page

PM_{2.5} concentrations

Key findings

In terms of short-term exposure in the four-year period between 2017 and 2020:

- 84 percent of sites (16 of 19) were greater than the PM_{2.5} 2005 World Health Organization 24-hour average guideline. Most measurements above the World Health Organization guideline were at sites classified as residential.
- Blenheim Bowling Club (at 52 days), Masterton East (36 days), and Anzac Square (Timaru) (31 days) recorded the highest number of average daily exceedances of the 2005 World Health Organization 24-hour average guideline per year.
- The majority (82 percent) of all exceedances recorded over this period occurred in winter (June, July, August). Seventeen percent were recorded in autumn (March, April, May).

In terms of long-term exposure in the four-year period between 2017 and 2020:

• Seven sites had at least one exceedance for the annual mean $PM_{2.5}$ 2005 World Health Organization guideline of 10 µg/m³ for air quality. These were Blenheim Bowling Club, Geraldine, Kaiapoi, Masterton East, Masterton West, Rotorua at Edmund Rd, and Anzac Square (Timaru). At four exceedances, Blenheim Bowling Club had the most exceedances over this four-year period, in 2017, 2018, 2019, and 2020.

For the eight sites that were analysed for trends in the 10-year period between 2011 and 2020:

• PM_{2.5} concentrations improved at four sites (50 percent), worsened at one site (12 percent), and trends were indeterminate at three sites (38 percent).

Find out more

Stats NZ $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations web page

Nitrogen dioxide concentrations

Nitrogen dioxide (NO_2) is a gas primarily generated by burning fossil fuels, mainly by motor vehicles (particularly diesel vehicles), but also from industrial emissions and home heating.

There are health impacts from short-term and long-term exposure to nitrogen dioxide. Short-term exposure to high concentrations of nitrogen dioxide causes inflammation of the airways and respiratory problems, and can cause asthma attacks (US EPA, 2016). Short-term exposure may also trigger heart attacks and increase the risk of premature death (US EPA, 2016). Long-term exposure may cause asthma to develop and lead to decreased lung development in children. It may also increase the risk of certain forms of cancer and premature death (US EPA, 2016).

Note: Evaluation of data against the 2021 WHO guidelines will be released 10 December 2021.

Key findings

In terms of short-term exposure in the four-year period between 2017 and 2020:

 No site exceeded the National Environmental Standards for Air Quality short-term standard of 200 μg/m³ average over 1-hour.

In terms of long-term exposure in the four-year period between 2017 and 2020:

- Queen Street (Auckland) exceeded the 2005 WHO annual guideline in 2017 (43.9 $\mu g/m^3)$ and 2018 (43.9 $\mu g/m^3).$
- Queen Street (Auckland) recorded the highest concentration of nitrogen dioxide (41.5 μg/m³) averaged over 2017–20. Riccarton Road (Christchurch) recorded the second highest concentration (29.9 μg/m³).
- Nitrogen dioxide concentrations at monitored sites were highest in winter (June, July, August).

Ten-year trends between 2011 and 2020 (Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency sites):

• Two-thirds of sites (72 of 110) had improving trends while 4 percent (4 of 110) were worsening. No trend could be determined for 31 percent of sites (34 of 110).

Find out more

Stats NZ Nitrogen dioxide concentrations web page

Sulphur dioxide concentrations

Sulphur dioxide (SO₂) is a colourless gas with a sharp, irritating odour. It is associated with combustion of fossil fuels (such as coal, diesel, and heavy fuel oil used in maritime vessels) and industrial processes (such as the production of fertilisers and the smelting of mineral ores containing sulphur).

At high levels, sulphur dioxide can have human health and ecological impacts. When inhaled, sulphur dioxide is associated with respiratory problems such as bronchitis. It can aggravate the symptoms of asthma and chronic lung disease and cause irritation to eyes. In ecosystems, it can damage vegetation, acidify water and soil (US EPA, 2017), and affect biodiversity.

Note: Evaluation of data against the 2021 WHO guidelines will be released 10 December 2021.

Key findings

In the four-year period between 2017 and 2020:

- No sites exceeded the short-term sulphur dioxide one-hour National Environmental Standards for Air Quality lower threshold of $350 \ \mu g/m^3$ or the upper threshold of $570 \ \mu g/m^3$.
- Four sites out of seven (57 percent) exceeded the 24-hour sulphur dioxide 2005 World Health Organization guideline threshold of 20 μg/m³. Totara St, Whareroa Marae, and Tauranga Bridge Marina (all in Mount Maunganui), had the highest average daily exceedances of the 24-hour 2005 World Health Organization short-term guideline over this period (81, 40, and 16 average exceedances per year respectively).
- Of all exceedances of the 2005 World health Organization 24-hour guideline recorded over this period, 32 percent were in summer (December, January, February) and 30 percent were recorded in spring (September, October, November).

Ten-year trends between 2011 and 2020:

• At five of six sites (83 percent) annual trends were improving.

Find out more

Stats NZ Sulphur dioxide concentrations web page

Ground-level ozone

Ozone (O_3) is a gas found naturally in the atmosphere. However, when it occurs at ground level, it is a pollutant generated by human activity and can have harmful effects.

Exposure to high concentrations of ground-level ozone can cause respiratory health issues and is linked to cardiovascular health problems and increased mortality. Those most at risk include people with asthma, children, older adults, and people who are active outdoors, such as outdoor workers. Exposure to ground-level ozone may also be associated with nervous system, reproductive, and developmental effects (WHO, 2013). High levels of ground-level ozone can also have harmful ecological effects: it can damage vegetation, reduce plant growth (affecting crop and forest yields), and harm sensitive ecosystems (US EPA, 2013).

Note: Evaluation of data against the 2021 WHO guidelines will be released 10 December 2021.

Key findings

In the four-year period between 2017 and 2020:

- Neither of the two monitored sites, Patumāhoe (Auckland) and Wellington Central, exceeded the National Environmental Standards for Air Quality 1-hour average threshold of 150 μg/m³ or the 2005 World Health Organization running 8-hour average guideline of 100 μg/m³.
- Ground-level ozone had higher concentrations during the mid-afternoon.
- Patumāhoe had a higher annual average ground-level ozone concentration (40.1 μ g/m³) than Wellington Central (17.3 μ g/m³).

Ten-year trends between 2011 and 2020:

• Patumāhoe showed an improving annual trend.

Find out more

Stats NZ Ground-level ozone concentrations web page

Carbon monoxide concentrations

Carbon monoxide (CO) is caused by the incomplete combustion of fuels, especially in petrol-fueled motor vehicles.

Carbon monoxide can have a range of health effects even after short-term exposure to relatively low concentrations. When inhaled, carbon monoxide enters the blood stream and attaches to haemoglobin in red blood cells, which transport oxygen around the body. This reduces the amount of oxygen that body tissues receive and can have adverse effects on the brain, heart, and general health (US EPA, 2010).

Note: Evaluation of data against the 2021 WHO guidelines will be released 10 December 2021.

Key findings

In the four-year period between 2017 and 2020:

- No site exceeded the National Environmental Standards for Air Quality running 8-hour average threshold of 10 mg/m³.
- No site exceeded the 2010 World Health Organization 1-hour average guideline of 35 mg/m³.
- Riccarton Road (Christchurch) had the highest average concentrations of carbon monoxide (0.4 mg/m³). The rest of the sites had average concentrations of 0.2 mg/m³.
- Across sites, peak concentrations of carbon monoxide occurred during morning and evening hours.
- Carbon monoxide concentrations were highest in winter (averaging 0.4 mg/m³ over the winter months June, July, August).

Ten-year trends between 2011 and 2020:

• Of the 10 sites assessed for annual trends, seven were improving and three were indeterminate.

Find out more

Stats NZ Carbon monoxide concentrations web page

Air pollutant emissions (sources)

Understanding the key sources of air pollutants is critical to managing and improving air quality. Emissions inventories estimate the quantities of different pollutants emitted to the air by different sources, over a certain time period.

Nationally in 2019:

- The residential sector (primarily burning wood for home heating) contributed 30 percent of PM_{2.5} emissions and 41 percent of carbon monoxide emissions. Almost all particulate matter emissions generated by the residential sector were PM_{2.5}.
- Dust from unsealed roads was the dominant source of PM₁₀ (28 percent).
- On-road vehicles were the dominant source of nitrogen oxides (39 percent), primarily diesel vehicles.
- Burning coal was a large source of sulphur dioxide emissions (41 percent), primarily from manufacturing and construction and electricity generation. Domestic shipping (16 percent) and aluminium production (13 percent) were also significant sources of sulphur dioxide.

In the eight-year period between 2012 and 2019:

- Total emissions were lower in 2019 for all pollutants except PM₁₀. Annual emissions of carbon monoxide were down 15 percent compared to 2012 (by more than 87,000 tonnes).
- Transport emissions were lower in 2019 for all pollutants except sulphur dioxide, with emissions of carbon monoxide down 47 percent (by more than 85,000 tonnes) and nitrogen oxides down 12 percent (by more than 8,000 tonnes).
- Emissions from electricity generation were lower in 2019 across all pollutants. Most notably, sulphur dioxide emissions decreased by 40 percent (by more than 5,000 tonnes) due to lower emissions from coal burning.

Find out more

Stats NZ Air pollutant emissions web page

Health impacts of air pollution

Air pollution causes a wide range of health impacts. Because of the difficulty of separating air pollution effects from other causes, modelling is commonly used to estimate health impacts from air pollution. This indicator uses a modelling methodology informed by the Health and Air Pollution in New Zealand (HAPINZ, 2012) study, which was developed in accordance with international best practice (Kuschel et al, 2012).

Note: We are anticipating that this indicator will be updated soon, pending an update to the model. Updated information will be available on the Stats NZ website. This indicator used PM_{10} as a proxy for all air pollution in New Zealand but the revision currently underway is investigating also reporting on $PM_{2.5}$ and nitrogen dioxide.

Key findings

From modelling based on the current HAPINZ model:

- As shown in table 1, adult (older than 30 years) premature deaths linked to exposure to humangenerated PM₁₀ were estimated to be 8 percent lower in 2016 than in 2006 (27 deaths per 100,000 people, compared to 29 in 2006).
- Total hospital admissions due to human-generated PM₁₀ were estimated to be 2 percent lower in 2016 than in 2006 (14 admissions per 10,000 people compared to 15 in 2006).
 - For cardiac illness, admissions were estimated to be 11 percent lower (5 per 100,000 people compared to 6 in 2006).
 - For respiratory illness, admissions were estimated to be 4 percent higher in 2016 than in 2006 (although rounding makes the admissions total the same: 9 admissions per 100,000 people in both years).
- Restricted activity days, in which symptoms were sufficient to prevent usual activities such as work or study, were estimated to be 12 percent lower in 2016 than 2006 (31,800 per 100,000 people compared to 36,300 in 2006).

Table 1: Modelled health effects from exposure to human-generated PM10, 2006 and 2016

Health effect		Number of cases per 100,000 people	
		2006	2016
Premature mortality (adults 30+)		29	27
Hospital admissions	Cardiac hospital admissions	6	5
	Respiratory hospital admissions	9	9
	Total hospital admissions	15	14
Restricted activity days		36,300	31,800

Source: HAPINZ Exposure Model (Kuschel et al, 2012), Emission Impossible Ltd

Find out more

Stats NZ Health impacts of PM_{10} web page

References

Environmental Reporting Act 2015. Retrieved from https://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/2015/0087/latest/DLM5941105.html

Health Effects Institute (2018). State of global air 2018. Special Report. Health Effects Institute, Boston, USA.

Kuschel, G, Metcalfe, J, Wilton, E, Guria, J, Hales, S, Rolfe, K, & Woodward, A (2012). *Updated Health and Air Pollution in New Zealand Study Volume 1: Summary report (Vol. 1)*. Retrieved from https://environment.govt.nz/publications/updated-health-and-air-pollution-in-new-zealand-study-2012-technical-report/

Patel, H, Talbot, N, Salmond, J, Dirks, K, Xie, S, & Davy, P (2020). Implications for air quality management of changes in air quality during lockdown in Auckland (New Zealand) in response to the 2020 SARS-CoV-2 epidemic. Science of The Total Environment: 746.

Talbot, N, Takada, A, Bingham, AH, Elder, D, Yee, SL, & Golubiewski, NE (2021). An investigation of the impacts of a successful COVID-19 response and meteorology on air quality in New Zealand. Atmospheric Environment, 254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2021.118322

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (2010). Integrated Science Assessment for Carbon Monoxide. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/isa/integrated-science-assessment-isa-carbon-monoxide

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). (2013). Integrated Science Assessment for Ozone and Related Photochemical Oxidants. Federal Register (Vol. EPA 600/R-). Research Triangle Park, NC.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (2016). Integrated Science Assessment for Oxides of Nitrogen – Health Criteria. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/isa/integrated-science-assessment-isa-nitrogen-dioxide-health-criteria

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). (2017). Integrated Science Assessment for Sulfur Oxides – Health Criteria. Research Triangle Park, NC. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/isa/integrated-science-assessment-isa-sulfur-oxides-health-criteria

United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (2021). Particulate Matter (PM) Basics. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/pm-pollution/particulate-matter-pm-basics#PM

World Health Organization (WHO) (2006). WHO Air quality guidelines for particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide: global update 2005: summary of risk assessment. Geneva: World Health Organization. Geneva. Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/69477

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2010). WHO guidelines for indoor air quality: selected pollutants. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260127

World Health Organization (WHO) (2013). Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution – REVIHAAP Project. Retrieved from https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/air-quality/publications/2013/review-of-evidence-on-health-aspects-of-air-pollution-revihaap-project-final-technical-report

World Health Organization. (2021). WHO global air quality guidelines: particulate matter (PM_{2.5} and PM₁₀), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, sulfur dioxide and carbon monoxide. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345329